FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/7/2021 4:31 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/13/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 99967-8

Court of Appeals No. 79819-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Marriage of:

PHILIPPE CHAINIER,

Respondent,

and

KELLIE ANN CHAINIER,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The principal issue here is the trial court's broad discretion to value an asset before it for distribution in a dissolution, when it finds that the asset's owner has failed to provide a credible valuation. Husband owns a substantial interest in his family's business, SARL Financiere Chainier ("Financiere"), a holding company for wineries, vineyards, and related assets. His expert, Steven Kessler, used what he called "fair value" to value Financiere, accounting only for an asset's acquisition price, not its current worth or fair market value. Expert Kevin Grambush opined that this approach was flawed, where establishing fair market value was necessary to properly value the businesses. The trial court found Kessler not credible, and Grambush credible, in large part because Kessler's valuation appeared extremely low in comparison to current land values. Left without a credible valuation, the trial court made an adverse evidentiary inference based on

the record before it to assign a value to Financiere, enabling it to distribute the parties' assets.

In direct conflict with scores of controlling cases, the appellate court reweighed the evidence and reviewed the trial court's determination that Kessler was not credible. The result is a remand to determine the "proper value" of husband's interest in Financiere, without information in the record to determine its fair market value. *Marriage of Chainier*, No. 79819-7-I, slip op. at 29 (March 29, 2021).

The appellate court erred again in labeling the trial court's adverse evidentiary inference a "sanction" subject to *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*. This creates more conflicts and raises a question of substantial public interest this Court should determine. And raising another issue of substantial public interest, the appellate court held that unchallenged domestic violence findings were insufficient to order parenting classes and DV treatment.

This Court should accept review and reverse.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where it is well established that the appellate courts will not review credibility determinations or reweigh the evidence, does the appellate decision conflict with numerous controlling cases where it: (a) considers and effectively reverses the trial court's decision that Kessler's business valuation was not credible; (b) ignores the trial court's determination that Grambush testified credibly in refuting Kessler's valuation; and (c) ignores the trial court's determination that husband also was evasive and not credible regarding the family businesses?
- 2. Does the appellate decision conflict with controlling precedent and raise a question of substantial public interest this Court should determine, where it treats the adverse evidentiary inference as a sanction requiring a **Burnet** analysis?

3. Does the appellate decision raise another question of substantial public interest this Court should determine in holding that numerous detailed findings establishing a history of acts of domestic violence are insufficient to order DV treatment and parenting classes under RCW 26.09.191 because the court did not further explain its order?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Ruling that husband's business valuation was lacking, the trial court applied an adverse evidentiary inference to value the business.

Kellie Anne and Phillipe Chainer separated in June 2017 after an 11-year marriage. CP 267. Their children where ages 3 and 6 when their dissolution was finalized in March 2019. CP 268, 339. The primary issues at trial and on appeal included the valuation of the husband's business interest and RCW 26.09.191 limitations on his parenting due to his history of acts of domestic violence. Op. at 1-3.

Along with his father and two brothers, husband owns Financiere a holding company located in France. CP 268. Financiere owns SAS Pierre Chainier, a wine-making company whose annual revenues approximate €15 Million. *Id.* Directly and through other companies, Financiere owns 250 hectares of vineyards, among other assets. CP 269. Husband owns a 7.5% direct share of Financiere, and

another 25.89% share in remainder interest he will receive upon the death of his father, who is 79 years-old. *Id*.

The trial court found that "Husband's testimony regarding the value of SAS Pierre Chainier was evasive and not credible" CP 269. His expert, Steven Kessler, agreed that the value of the company lies in the value of the vineyards and inventory, and that the vineyards would have to be properly appraised to determine their fair market value. *Id.*; RP 343-45, 930. But husband did not provide appraisals of the vineyards. CP 269; RP 334, 890, 899-900, 930-31, 1368.

Kessler used an "asset approach," but lacking appraisals, he based his opinion on the vineyards' original acquisition price or "book value" taken from the company's financial statements. CP 269; RP 345, 934-36, 1308; Ex 154; Op. at 6-7. For assets subject to depreciation for tax purposes, Kessler excluded accumulated depreciation to return the assets to the undepreciated original cost – what

he called "fair value." CP 269; 934-36, 1308; Ex 154; Op. at 6-7. As a result, "book value" and "fair value" are the same figure – the assets have not been adjusted to what they are currently worth, but returned to their acquisition cost. CP 269-70; RP 934-36, 1306-09. Kessler valued Financiere at €8,455,422, and valued husband's total interest at €1,365,500. RP 348; Op. at 6-7. While he admitted this approach was subject to criticism and that appraisals would be nice, he believed obtaining them would be prohibitively expensive. CP 269; RP 334-36, 950.

Wife's expert Kevin Grambush agreed that using an "asset approach" was appropriate, but opined that to accurately value the businesses, one had to determine the fair market value of each asset or group of assets. CP 269; RP 1303-05. Appraisals were necessary to determine the fair market value of the vineyards, one of the principal components of the businesses' total value. RP 343, 1305-06. Kessler's approach was flawed because he merely

used "what was originally paid for" all the assets, not their current worth. RP 1307-09. This is particularly problematic with real estate, whose purchase price is not an indicator of current worth. CP 269-70; RP 1307-09.

The trial court found Grambush's testimony "credible." CP 270. The court found Kessler's valuation "not credible" and that there "is evidence to support an adverse inference that the fair market value is greater than Kessler opined." *Id.* The court inferred the value as follows (*id.*):

- The Chainier family owns 250 hectares.
- There is evidence allowing the court to infer that around 2017, they purchased two hectares for €42,664 per hectare.
- If that price per hectare reflected the fair market value of the 250 hectares, then then the vineyards would be valued at about €10,625,000, more than five times Kessler's valuation of the vineyards.
- The court ruled, "This evidence is strong impeachment of Mr. Kessler's valuation and the court finds his opinion not credible."
- Using this price-per-hectare approach, reducing husband's remainder interest to reflect its present value, and converting to U.S. dollars, the court assigned a value of \$4.954 million to husband's ownership interest.

B. The trial court ordered RCW 26.09.191 limitations on husband's parenting, finding a history of acts of domestic violence that husband conceded on appeal.

The trial court found a history of acts of domestic violence giving rise to limitations on husband's parenting. CP 129-31. The court's findings document physical altercations, including punching wife's car window, choking her, bruising her, and kicking-in her door. CP 129-30. They also document a pattern of "coercive control," including threating wife, limiting her access to others, requiring her to obtain permission before making purchases, cutting off her access to finances, and inspecting her body after travel. *Id*. The court found that wife was "the more credible witness," testifying consistently with other witness and the records produced. CP 130. The court found that husband's testimony "was often evasive and sometimes strained credulity" and that it "contradicted several" of "his prior statements, other witness testimony, and records" *Id*.

C. The appellate court reversed without argument, holding that the trial court erred in failing to apply the three-part *Burnet* inquiry to the adverse evidentiary inference, and in failing to enter findings supporting the .191 limitations.

The appellate court held that the trial court's valuation "is not financially sound," questioning its "explanation of why it did not find Kessler credible": (1) it mischaracterized Kessler as presenting only book value, when he started with book value to determine "fair value": (2) it asserted "that Kessler's estimates were not credible as fair market values, despite the fact that Kessler was estimating fair values, not fair market values"; (3) its priceper-hectare approach failed to take into account hectares purchased at a far lower price. Op. at 6-9. The court rejected wife's argument that the trial court need not use an accepted valuation technique because it was using an adverse evidentiary inference, holding that wife did not file a motion to compel discovery and that the court did not

comply with *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 495-96, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). *Id.* at 9.

As to parenting, husband did not challenge the trial court's domestic violence findings, but challenged the .191 limitations that he abstain from drugs and alcohol and complete a "step parenting" class, a Washington DV prevention program, and "DV Dads." Op. at 17, 18. The court held that these limitations are "overly restrictive because they are not supported by the court's findings." *Id*.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The appellate decision conflicts with numerous decisions from this Court and the appellate courts holding that appellate courts do not review credibility determinations or reweigh the evidence. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

It is well established that appellate courts will not review credibility determinations or reweigh competing testimony. Here, the appellate court did both. The court reviewed – or ignored – the trial court's three credibility determinations: (1) husband undervalued his assets

repeatedly and his testimony regarding the company's value was "evasive and not credible ..."; (2) Kessler's valuation was so low it was not credible; and (3) Grambush's testimony is credible. CP 228, 229, 440; Op. at 9-10. In doing so, the court also reweighed the expert testimony regarding the Financiere valuation. Op. at 6-10. In both regards, its decision conflicts with scores of cases.

As this Court has repeatedly held. "Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. ... This court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence." State *v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing **State v. Camarillo**, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990) and **State v. Cord**, 103 Wn.2d 361, 367, 693 P.2d 81 (1985)); see also *Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 352, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003); *Marriage of Wright*, 179 Wn. App. 257, 262 n.7, 319 P.3d 45 (2013); Marriage of Eklund, 143 Wn. App. 207, 212, 177 P.3d 189 (2008). This is due in large part to the fact that trial courts hear and see witnesses, providing an opportunity to assess credibility that the appellate court does not share. See Bale v. Allison, 173 Wn. App. 435, 459, 294 P.3d 789 (2013); Garofalo v. Commellini, 169 Wash. 704, 705, 13 P.2d 497 (1932). It is also due to the fact that "trial judges and court commissioners routinely hear family law matters." Rideout, 150 Wn.2d at 352.

In a related but distinct area, appellate courts "do not reweigh or rebalance competing testimony and inferences even if [they] may have resolved the factual dispute differently." *Bale*, 173 Wn. App. at 458 (citing *Brown v. Superior Underwriters*, 30 Wn. App. 303, 305-06, 632 P.2d 887 (1980)). "This is especially true when the trial court finds the evidence unpersuasive." 173 Wn. App. at 458 (citing *Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc.*, 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009)). Put another way,

"where a trial court finds that evidence is insufficient to persuade it that something occurred, an appellate court is simply not permitted to reweigh the evidence and come to a contrary finding." *Quinn*, 153 Wn. App. at 717.

Directly contradicting each of these cases (and many more), the appellate court erred in reviewing – and impugning – the trial court's three credibility determinations, effectively preferring Kessler's valuation to Grambush's critique. Op. at 9-10. It gave three incorrect reasons for undermining the trial court's "explanation of why it did not find Kessler credible" (Op. at 8):

(1) its mischaracterization of Kessler as presenting the court with only the book value of the company, (2) its assertion that Kessler's estimates were not credible as fair market values, despite the fact that Kessler was estimating fair values, not fair market values, and (3) its identification that the court's estimate, which we have noted was mathematically inconsistent, was significantly higher than Kessler's estimate.

As to the first reason, the court apparently believed that the trial court mischaracterized Kessler as presenting only

book value, when he in fact started with book value to determine "fair value," the value of the interest to the holder. Op. at 6-8. But this misunderstands that with Kessler's approach, the "fair value" calculation merely used the vineyards acquisition price and returned buildings and equipment to their undepreciated book value. RP 345, 1307-09; Ex 154. Under Kessler's approach, there is no difference between book value and fair value - both capture only the acquisition price, not their current worth. Id. Kessler admitted "fair value" is not reflective of the asset's fair market value, nor could it be unless the vineyards never appreciated. CP 269-70; RP 934, 1307-09. The appellate court simply reweighed evidence that it misunderstood.

As to the second reason, the trial court never ruled "that Kessler's estimates were not credible as fair market values." Op. at 9. It ruled that Kessler did not adjust book values to fair *market* values (as Grambush testified was

necessary) and that there "was no expert testimony of the fair market value of husband's separate property interest in the family winery business." CP 270; RP 1306-08. It knew Kessler was using fair value, not fair *market* value. *Id*. Its determination credibility is based not misunderstanding, but on the fact that evidence in the record strongly suggested that Kessler grossly undervalued the vineyards. Id.

Relatedly, the appellate court erred in criticizing the trial court for focusing on fair market value when "fair value is an appropriate alternative" "when the fair market value of an asset cannot be determined." Op. at 7 (emphasis added). Nothing prevented husband from providing fair market value aside from his refusal to pay for appraisals. CP 269; RP 334, 890, 899-900, 930-31, 1368. The trial court's "focus on fair market value" was not an error – it was well within the trial court's broad discretion to determine the weight and persuasiveness of the evidence.

As to the third reason, it is irrelevant that the trial court's price-per-hectare approach failed to account for hectares purchased at a far lower price. Op. at 7-8. The trial court was not attempting to value the vineyards. It was attempting to assign a value so that it could distribute the assets. This was necessary because Kessler's valuation was not credible, and it was reasonable to infer from the evidence before the court that it was far lower than fair market value. CP 269-70.

The treatment of the Kessler credibility determination must be understood in context of the others. The trial court found too that husband was not credible regarding Financiere. CP 269. Grambush testified credibly that a proper evaluation required appraisals to determine fair market value, where book value or fair value fail to account for appreciation. CP 270; RP 1305-09. Kessler lacked credibility not just because his valuation was far too low,

but because his approach was flawed due to husband's refusal to provide appraisals. CP 269-70; RP 1305-09.

In sum, the appellate court improperly reviewed the trial court's determination that Kessler was not credible, and ignored its determinations that husband also was not credible and that Grambush was. It reweighed the evidence, effectively accepting testimony the trial court had rejected. Conflicts abound. This Court should accept review and reverse.

B. The appellate decision conflicts with numerous decisions governing a trial court's duties and discretion in distributing assets in a dissolution, conflicts with *Burnet* and its progeny, and raises a question of substantial public interest this Court should review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4).

As addressed above, the trial court was faced with Kessler's valuation that it found not credible, and with Grambush's credible testimony that he could not value husband's interest in Financiere without appraisals. CP 269-70. Without any way to properly value to that asset, but constrained to do so, the court inferred that the interest

was worth more than Kessler opined and assigned it a value based on a price-per-hectare approach. *Id.* This was not a sanction, but an evidentiary ruling. *Id.* The appellate decision that this required a motion to compel discovery or a *Burnet* analysis comes out of left field. Op. 9.

Forcing the adverse evidentiary ruling into a sanctions construct conflicts with numerous decisions requiring a trial court to value the assets before it in a dissolution, and giving it broad discretion to do so. The trial court has a duty to value and distribute all assets before it in a dissolution and abuses its discretion if it fails to do so. See *Marriage of Sedlock*, 69 Wn. App. 484, 498, 849 P.2d 1243 (1993); *Marriage of Thomas*, 63 Wn. App. 658, 664, 821 P.2d 1227 (1991); see also Marriage of Hadley, 88 Wn.2d 649, 657, 565 P.2d 790 (1977); Marriage of **Greene**, 97 Wn. App. 708, 712, 986 P.2d 144 (1999). It has broad discretion in valuing an asset and "wide latitude" in weighing related expert testimony. *Marriage of Gillespie*,

89 Wn. App. 390, 403, 948 P.2d 1338 (1997); **Sedlock**, 69 Wn. App. at 491. The valuation need only be "within the range of the credible evidence." 69 Wn. App. at 491-92. When a party to the divorce fails to account for an asset within his control, "any uncertainties" must be "resolved against him." **Thomas**, 63 Wn. App. at 664.

The trial court's decision is entirely consistent with each of these cases. It had to value Financiere to distribute the parties' assets. *Sedlock*, *supra*. It found credible (and more persuasive) Grambush's testimony that the only way to properly value that asset was to have appraisals for the vineyards. *Gillespie*, *supra*; CP 269-70. It rejected as not credible Kessler's valuation of the vineyards based on their book value. *Id*. Finding that Kessler had grossly undervalued the vineyards in comparison to a recent purchase, the court inferred their value was far greater. *Thomas*, *supra*. It then assigned a value within the range of that evidence. *Sedlock*, *supra*.

The trial court did not mention CR 37, *Burnet*, or sanctions. CP 269-70. It discussed husband's production only in awarding wife \$90,000 in attorney fees for intransigence. CP 282.

The appellate court invoked CR 37 and Burnet in response to wife's assertion that husband's "resistance to discovery left the court no choice but to draw an adverse inference." Op. at 9. Her point was that "[I]eft with no credible evidence of the actual value of his interests, [the court] drew an adverse inference from the evidence available to it." BR 44. That is not a sanction. Since: (a) Kessler failed to provide a credible valuation; and (b) Grambush could not do so without appraisals; then (c) the court inferred, based on the 2017 purchase price of two hectares, that the fair market value of the vineyards was considerably more than Kessler opined. CP 229-70; BR 47-48. This has nothing to do with CR 37 or *Burnet*, which apply to sanctions for discovery violations, or court-rule violations. See *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368-69, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

The appellate decision fundamentally disrupts a trial court's discretion to provide a just and equitable distribution of assets necessary to achieving finality for divorcing parties. Thus, its invocation of CR 37 and **Burnet** also merits this Court's review and correction that an adverse evidentiary inference *is not a sanction*. Op. 9.; RAP 13.4(b)(4). A line of cases addressing adverse inferences in the Fifth Amendment context is instructive.

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