FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/7/2021 4:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 99967-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Marriage of PHILIPPE CHAINIER Respondent and KELLIE ANN CHAINIER Petitioner ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PATRICIA NOVOTNY Attorney for Respondent 3418 NE 65th Street, Suite A Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 525-0711

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED.

This case involves a concerted effort by Kellie Ann to confuse and prejudice the trial court, an effort that played out in vigorous pretrial motions practice and a 16 day trial, followed by more motions practice.

Here, as at trial and in the Court of Appeals, Kellie Ann again seeks to sow confusion by misrepresenting the facts and the law.

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY APPLIED THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE STANDARD TO THE VALUATION ISSUE.

The Court of Appeals did not usurp the trial court's fact-finding function or tread on its authority to make credibility determinations.

Rather, on review of the record, it found there was no evidence to support the trial court's valuation findings. Slip. Op., at 6-11.

First, credibility determinations were not dispositive of the valuation problem. Having found CPA Kessler and <u>all</u> of Philippe's many witnesses to lack credibility, and having found CPA Grambush credible in his critique of Kessler's valuation, the trial court had no other evidence of value, as Kellie Ann admits. Petition, at 1, 18-19 (discounting all of the Chainier evidence left the court with no "credible valuation").

Accordingly, Kellie Ann concocted a valuation method out of whole cloth, a method that depended on a misreading of two lines on two pages of one financial statement among the thousands of pages comprising the evidence of the Chainier family business, two lines suited to Kellie Ann's purposes but otherwise meaningless. Reply Br., at 5-6. Grambush did not propose or use her "per hectare" method, nor is it recognized as acceptable in the financial community, as our law requires. *Eagleview Techs., Inc. v. Pikover*, 192 Wn. App. 299, 309–10, 365 P.3d 1264 (2015). No one testified that the information Kellie Ann extracted meant what she claimed it to have meant: it did not prove a sale of hectares, rather than a change in use of the hectares and it did not prove, if there was a sale, that the purported value of those hectares could be applied to the other 248 other hectares owned by the business (and put to many uses). Kellie Ann

proved nothing about value. When the trial court made its credibility determinations, it was left with nothing else establishing the value of the Chainier business.

Moreover, the trial court's credibility determinations were based on the court's own misapprehension of the evidence. See, e.g., CP 269-270. Kessler did not value the Chainier property at book value. He used book value and many other metrics to arrive at fair value. Reply Br., at 6-8, 10-11. Neither Kessler nor Grambush testified fair market value was the only acceptable value. Rather, they agreed on the acceptability of the asset approach as establishing a fair value, which our law also recognizes. RP 344, 1303. *See, e.g., Marriage of Hall,* 103 Wn.2d 236, 247, 692 P.2d 175 (1984) (good will in a professional practice); *Marriage of Berg,* 47 Wn. App. 754, 756–59, 737 P.2d 680 (1987) (closely held corporations). There was no effort made by either party to establish a "fair market value" because acquiring the property appraisals necessary to do so was prohibitively expensive.

Right out of the gate, Kellie Ann's petition misrepresents these facts, claiming, falsely, that Kessler's "fair value" represented the "acquisition price" not the "current worth or fair market value." Petition, at 1, 8. In fact, a fair value is a current value. Unfortunately, the trial court's credibility determination rested on these and other factual (and

mathematical) errors. In recognizing this, the Court of Appeals did not engage in fact-finding or credibility determinations; it engaged in record review, with the result being that no substantial evidence supported the cockamamie values Kellie Ann urged the court to adopt.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY APPLIED WASHINGTON LAW REGARDING ALLEGED DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS, WHICH INCLUDES A REQUIREMENT TO ANALYZE THE "BURNET" FACTORS.

Kellie Ann also sold the trial court on the idea it could dispense with evidence altogether by way of making an adverse inference. Petition, at 18-19. Adverse inferences are used sparingly, since the speculation they invite "creates a substantial danger of unfair prejudice." *Morris v. Union Pac. R.R.*, 373 F.3d 896, 903 (8th Cir. 2004). They encourages the fact-finder to rely on what it thinks missing evidence might have proven rather than relying on actual evidence. *Morris*, 373 F.3d at 900–01. With an adverse inference, "[c]onjecture or ambiguity is often present." 2 *McCormick On Evidence* § 264 (8th Ed., 2020 Online Update). As the trial court in *Morris* said, an adverse inference is "'like cow crap; the more you step in it, the more it stinks." *Id.* That is what the court did here.

As the Court of Appeals noted, the trial court's valuation was not based on evidence or an acceptable valuation method. Slip Op., at 6-11. In her petition, Kellie Ann concedes as much, since she does not point to any

evidence of value, only to Grambush's critique of Kessler's valuation. Petition, at 6-8, 18-19. Still, she argues the court's valuation fell "within the range of that evidence" (Petition, at 20), ignoring there was no "range" of evidence, only Kessler's valuation and the witnesses and documentation supporting it. Essentially, she argues the trial court's discretion is so broad as to justify "resolv[ing]" the problem of no-evidence by picking a number out of a hat. Id.

Not only are the facts unsupportive of this position, as discussed above, so is the law. In our judicial system, trials are a search for truth, with discovery rules "'designed to enhance" that search, insuring a fair trial to all. *State v. Boyd*, 160 Wn.2d 424, 433, 158 P.3d 54, 59 (2007) (internal citation omitted). Similar rules (constitutionally enhanced) operate in a criminal context. *See, e.g.*, CrR 4.7. Indeed, modern discovery procedures have diminished the "justification and the need" for the adverse inference, properly elevating certainty over speculation by facilitating the production of actual evidence. 2 *McCormick On Evidence* § 264 (8th Ed., 2020 Online Update).

As the Court of Appeals here noted, Kellie Ann could have moved to compel information she thought Philippe had not produced (i.e., the location of the real properties owned by the Chainier family business).

Slip. Op., at 9, 23. She chose not to do so. *See Jenkins v. Bierschenk*, 333

F.2d 421, 425 (8th Cir. 1964) (trial court correct not to draw adverse inference where, among other things, no discovery effort was made to obtain evidence).

Certainly, where a party actually obstructs the discovery process, and its truth-seeking goal, the court may impose sanctions. For example, the civil rules governing discovery violations permit the court to make orders to remedy the violation, including to order that "designated facts shall be taken to be established for the purposes of the action in accordance with the claim of the party obtaining the order." CR 37(b)(2)(A). This is what Kellie Ann asked the court to do. However, the court could not grant this relief without first engaging in a three-factor analysis, including whether a less severe sanction will work. *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) (also whether the violation was willful and whether it caused substantial prejudice to the other party). This analysis furthers the truth-seeking purpose of trial.

Thus, when applying the CR 37(b)(2)(A) sanction, the court must engage in the Burnet analysis. Because the trial court here failed to do so, the Court of Appeals rightly reversed. *See Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 369, 357 P.3d 1080, 1085 (2015) (reversing exclusion of evidence absent consideration of *Burnet* factors).

Kellie Ann claims we can ignore this express authority – CR 37 and *Burnet* – because the trial court did. Petition, at 21. But that is precisely the problem. The trial court did not reflect at all before accepting Kellie Ann's adverse inference and its global effects on the only evidence of value. The court did not consider whether Philippe wilfully withheld the locations of his family's properties (vineyards, etc.), an especially difficult bridge to cross since Kellie Ann had that information, presumably derived from the mountains of material Philippe produced in discovery.

Nor did the trial court consider what prejudice Kellie Ann suffered, or it would have concluded she suffered none, since she could have obtained appraisals if she wanted and appraisals were not, in any case, essential to value the business.

Nor did the court consider whether less drastic sanctions would resolve the "problem" of the missing appraisals, such as allowing more time for Kellie Ann to obtain them, as Philippe suggested, since she argued they were necessary for valuation purposes.

This *Burnet* analysis is what Judge Barbara Mack illlustrated in pretrial discovery motions practice when Kellie Ann asked the court to sanction Philippe's alleged discovery violations, not only by allowing an adverse inference be drawn, but by having his expert witness Kessler excluded. (The Hon. Theresa Doyle presided over trial.) Judge Mack

reserved on the first issue, to allow factual development at trial. She denied the motion to exclude Kessler but granted Kellie Ann time to depose him and ordered Philippe to pay for it. CP 58.²

In short, as Judge Mack demonstrated, our law requires sanctions take aim at the truth-seeking goal and, so, requires judges to consider lesser sanctions before the court takes a drastic action, such as excluding an important witness, let alone take an action as it did here, i.e., a global rejection of all evidence of value and substitution of a value based on nothing.

Kellie Ann wants to sidestep these requirements, so she argues the adverse inference was not a sanction. To do this she has to ignore the plain language of CR 37(2)(b)(A) and claim the rule has "nothing to do" with what the court did here. For support, she offers a misleading discussion of *Diaz v. Washington State Migrant Council*, 165 Wn. App. 59, 84–85, 265 P.3d 956, 969–70 (2011). Petition, at 21-22.

Diaz dealt with a missing witness problem in the context of corporate officers claiming the Fifth Amendment protected them from disclosing information sought by the other party. The Diaz court walked its way through these complex issues, with their particularized Fifth

13

² Despite having been granted time to depose CPA Kessler at Philippe's expense, nowhere in the record does it appear that she took that opportunity.

Amendment aspects, but in the end acknowledged the court may use an adverse inference as a sanction under CR 37(2)(b)(A) to "punish[...] a discovery violation," so long as the court abides by the *Burnet* rule. 165 Wn. App. at 87.³

In short, consistent with Division One's analysis in this case,
Division Three in *Diaz* recognized the adverse inference as an available
discovery sanction subject the *Burnet* analysis.⁴ In this case, Kellie Ann
asked the court to apply the adverse inference to punish what she alleged
to be Philippe's withholding of information requested in discovery. It is
disingenous at best to now claim she was not seeking a sanction.⁵

The cases cited by Kellie Ann, supporting general propositions about the trial court's discretion, do not help her out of the fix she's in. Petition, at 12-14, 19-20. For example, a court faced with two experts offering proof of different values may choose a "compromise" value if

_

³ Kellie Ann concedes the Fifth Amendment makes *Diaz* distinguishable. Petition, at 24. *See McCormick, supra*, § 74.1

⁴ Likewise, the adverse inference is recognized as a discovery sanction in a criminal context. *State v. Orlinski*, 200 Wn. App. 1004 (2017) (affirming trial court's decision not to give adverse inference instruction as discovery sanction). Pursuant to GR 14.1(a), this unpublished case is cited for its persuasive value only.

⁵ The court sanctioned Philippe twice for this alleged misconduct by also imposing attorney fees on a finding of intransigence. The appellate court, on review of the record, found this sanction similarly lacking support in the evidence. Kellie Ann does not challenge this holding, revealing a fundamental fallacy in her argument: if Philippe did not violate discovery, on what basis could the court make an adverse inference?

P.2d 1243 (1993). That is not what happened here. No evidence whatsoever supported either Kellie Ann's valuation "method" (price per hectare not an accepted accounting method) or the use her method makes of two lines on one of many financial statements in a sea of other financial documentation. Not one witness, expert or otherwise, including Kellie Ann's own CPA, Grambush, provided any support for the valuation scheme she sold to the court. Kellie Ann cannot evade her burden of production by means of the inference. 2 *McCormick On Evidence* § 264 (8th Ed., 2020 Online Update). Rather, she must establish an alternative value with "positive evidence." *Id.*

In short, it is the lack of evidence supporting the trial court's findings that the Court of Appeals found to be a problem. It did not "reweigh" evidence; rather, it found, after sifting through this enormous record, that there was no evidence on one side of the scales (i.e., no evidence of value other than offered by Philippe). It found further that, in key aspects, the trial court misapprehended the evidence that was in the record (e.g., Kessler's report produced a "fair value" not a "book value, as the trial court found). The appellate court found the valuation method Kellie Ann proposed at the end of trial was made up by her (i.e., not an

accepted accounting method) and the method used data Kellie Ann failed to prove meant what she claimed it to mean (e.g., sale of hectares, etc.).

The trial court's solution to the no-evidence problem talked and walked like the discovery sanction prescribed in CR 37(b)(2)(A). Even if the discovery sanction framework did not apply, the court needed to do something other than make up a number. *Donaldson v. Greenwood*, 40 Wn.2d 238, 252-253, 242 P.2d 1038 (1952) (cannot make finding out of "thin air"); *Marriage of Tulleners*, 11 Wn. App. 358, 371, 453 P.3d 996, 1003–04 (2019) (value must be supported by evidence); *Marriage of Hilt*, 41 Wn. App. 434, 442–43, 704 P.2d 672, 677 (1985) (lacking sufficient evidence to value property, court cannot just guess; it must take additional evidence).

Here, the court picked a number based on one criterion: it simply had to be higher than what all of Philippe's considerable evidence established. This random number is not "logically" drawn from the lack of appraisals or the court's credibility determinations, as an inference must be. *Diaz*, 165 Wn. App. at 85. The inference proves nothing of value. If Kellie Ann wanted to dispute Philippe's valuation, she needed to put on some evidence.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY APPLIED THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE STANDARD TO THE PARENTING PLAN LIMITATIONS.

On appeal, Philippe did not contest that the court could, having found domestic violence, impose limitations. His challenge goes to the punitive effect of the limitations, which affect not only him but his children. By requiring Philippe to complete a series of treatment programs beyond anything anyone (including Kellie Ann) had proposed and impossible as a practical matter, the court radically disrupted the children's relationship with their loving and involved father, as well as their relationship to their extended family in France. These children went from a routine of dependable, in real life, family intimacy to indefinite tele-visitation.

The Court of Appeals correctly identified and vacated the multiple places where the trial court imposed limitations on Philippe, including a sobriety requirement and step parenting class, since neither serves the statute's purpose of protecting the children from harm. Kellie Ann does not challenge these holdings. Rather, she seeks to preserve the trial court's "prohibitive barriers" (Slip Op., at 19) to Philippe maintaining his relationship to the children.

Kellie Ann's purpose does not align with the purpose of our laws.

Rather the driving force behind all aspects of a parenting plan, including

orders related to domestic violence, is to preserve, wherever and however possible, the continuity of the parent-child relationship. In fact, in order to completely sever contact between a parent and child, the court must expressly find there are no limitations adequate to protect the child from harm. RCW 26.09.191(2)(m)(i).⁶

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